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TENTATIVE ORDER

BY THE COMMISSION:


Before the Commission for approval is a Settlement Agreement entered into between the Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff and the Bureau of Transportation and Safety, Gas Safety Division (Commission Staff) and The Peoples Natural Gas Company d/b/a Dominion Peoples (Dominion Peoples), pursuant to 52 Pa. Code §3.113 (Resolution of Informal Investigations).
  

Background


The Settlement Agreement reflects events that occurred in two separate incidents, as averred by Commission Staff, concerning Dominion Peoples’ violations of the Commission’s regulations relating to gas safety at 52 Pa. Code §59.33 and 
49 C.F.R Part 192 (Transportation of Natural and Other Gas By Pipeline: Minimum Federal Safety Standards).     


The Hempfield Township, Westmoreland County Incident


On or about March 8, 2000, Dominion Peoples was notified by Channel Communications of proposed excavation activities on Patricia Drive, Hempfield Twp., Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania.  On March 16 and 17, 2000, All Clear Locating Services, a subcontractor of Dominion Peoples, marked lines M4865, TP7676, and M5688, the distribution lines and associated service lines.  On March 17 and 20, 2000, All Clear, on behalf of Dominion Peoples, notified the PA One Call, Kathy Automated Response to Locations (KARL) system, that all lines were marked on Patricia Drive.


On March 22, 2000, at approximately 8:00 a.m., Nortex, a subcontractor for Channel Communications, started excavation work to install communications cables for AT & T.  At approximately 11:15 a.m., a resident at 38 Patricia Drive heard a sudden rush of air and detected the odor of natural gas present in her home.  The resident notified the Nortex workers at the site.


Twenty-one minutes later, at 11:36 a.m., Nortex notified Dominion Peoples of a gas leak and, within four minutes, at 11:40 a.m., a Dominion Peoples service person arrived at the site.  Nortex personnel did not advise the Dominion Peoples employees as to the location of the leak, so Dominion Peoples began excavating with shovels at the service line closest to Nortex’s boring trench.  Gas service was immediately shut off to 38 Patricia Drive and six neighboring homes on Patricia Drive at the meters.   Additional Dominion Peoples personnel, including a supervisor and customer servicepersons, arrived on site five minutes later, at approximately 11:45 a.m.  Hempfield Township emergency crews and the Township Emergency Director also arrived at 11:45 a.m.


The curb valve was exposed at 39 Patricia Drive.  Additional Dominion Peoples personnel arrived with excavating equipment at 12:05 p.m. and squeezed off the gas service to 39 Patricia Drive.  However, gas continued to leak.  Dominion Peoples’ gas personnel also investigated the odor of gas calls from other residents in the area and shut off each meter.  At approximately 12:10 p.m., Dominion Peoples moved to excavate a long gas service line across the street from 39 Patricia Drive in an attempt to squeeze off the line and contain the gas leak.  At approximately 12:36 p.m., an explosion occurred at the residence at 40 Patricia Drive, and the resulting fire ignited the residence at 38 Patricia Drive.  The residents of 40 Patricia Drive were taken to the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center Hospital and were treated for burns.


Dominion Peoples continued to excavate the area where Nortex had been working in an attempt to locate the source of the gas leak.  At 12:41 p.m., a supervisor for Dominion Peoples, contacted a measurement and regulation supervisor, and verified he was en route to man valves at Pardus and Swede Hill regulator stations.  


At approximately 12:45 p.m., while excavating from the Nortex boring trench towards 39 Patricia Dr., Dominion Peoples uncovered a damaged gas line in the driveway of 39 Patricia Drive.  This line was approximately 60 feet from the Nortex boring trench.  It was miss-marked by approximately 15 feet from its actual location.  At approximately 1:30 p.m., electric power was discontinued to the entire housing development at the request of the Emergency Management Coordinator for Hempfield Township.  Dominion Peoples had been manning the hand valve 338 since just after 2:00 p.m. At approximately 3:30 p.m., the gas pressure in the gas lines had decreased.  A clamp was installed on line M4865 at 4:00 p.m.  By this time gas had been escaping for more than 4-1/2 hours.

This incident resulted in two explosions, a fire, the hospitalization of two residents, and the evacuation of 157 homes.

Industry, Beaver County, Pennsylvania

On or about March 15, 2000, Bell Atlantic notified Dominion Peoples of proposed excavation activities on State Route 68 between Hice Avenue and Friendship Drive in Industry, Pennsylvania.  On March 16, 2000, All Clear began marking gas lines on State Route 68 in Industry, PA   The locator for All Clear did not complete the gas line markings for the entire proposed excavation area as indicated by PA One Call serial number 0751577.


PA One Call was notified by All Clear on March 17, 2000 that the gas lines were marked (according to the KARL response).  On March 21, 2000, a Dominion Peoples employee noticed Bell Atlantic working with an augur in an area where Dominion Peoples has gas facilities.  No line marks were visible.  The employee notified both the responsible Dominion Peoples supervisor and the Bell Atlantic employee about the situation.


At approximately 1:30 p.m., March 22, 2000, a Bell Atlantic construction crew augured through Dominion Peoples gas pipeline P1127.  At approximately 1:36 p.m., a customer service person from Dominion Peoples was called and arrived at 2:00 p.m.  At approximately 2:15 p.m., a Dominion Peoples’ street crew arrived and began to excavate the main line in front of 1308 Midland Beaver Road to squeeze off the flow of gas, at which time the service person left the scene.


At approximately 2:52 p.m., the residence at 1304 Midland Beaver Road exploded, causing a fire.  Industry Volunteer Fire Department was dispatched by Beaver County 911 at approximately 3:00 p.m.


Upon review of the actions of Dominion Peoples with respect to the Hempfield Township and Industry, Beaver County incidents, Commission staff concluded that Dominion Peoples committed numerous violations of the Commission’s gas safety regulations, including the failure to properly mark its pipelines in the area of the excavations at 38 and 40 Patricia Drive and the failure to inspect pipelines which the operator had reason to believe could be damaged by those excavations in violation of 49 C.F.R. §192.614(c)6.  Dominion Peoples did not provide accurate maps of pipeline M-4865 in Hempfield Twp; it was recorded approximately 15 feet from the point of actual location, a violation of Pennsylvania Pipeline Safety Regulation 59.37, 52 Pa. Code §59.37 (maps, plans and records).


At 1304 Midland Beaver Road, customer service did not check surrounding structures for migration of gas and at Patricia Drive, Dominion Peoples’ personnel did not eliminate all sources of ignition in the area of venting gas, a violation of Pennsylvania Pipeline Safety Regulation 59.33, 52 Pa. Code §59.33 (Safety).  Dominion Peoples also did not check and service the valve used to control the pressure in pipeline M4865 Hempfield Township.  Valve number 338, classified a convenience valve, was installed in 1988 and last checked on May 11, 1998.


In addition, Dominion Peoples did not take steps to fully comply with the General Requirements of its Emergency Plan.  According to Commission staff, Dominion Peoples also did not have adequate critical valves spaced to reduce the time to shut down in case of an emergency and did not have adequate written emergency procedures for emergency shutdown and pressure reduction in accordance with its Emergency Plan.  Patricia Drive valves were not manned until after the explosions occurred and Valves at Industry were never used to minimize hazards to life and property.  


Dominion Peoples did not have in its Emergency Plan procedures for training operating personnel to insure they are knowledgeable of emergency procedures a violation of 49 C.F.R. §192.615(b)2.  Prior to March 22, 2000, Dominion Peoples performed emergency simulations annually.  Dominion Peoples also did not follow its Operation and Maintenance Plan; its employees did not review daily one call logs to determine the areas of excavation activity requiring inspection, a violation of 49 C.F.R. §§192.13(c), 192.605(b)1.


Prosecutory Staff and Dominion Peoples have reached a Settlement Agreement, executed on March 6, 2003, regarding Dominion Peoples’ violations of the Commission’s gas safety regulations.  The Settlement Agreement has been attached to this Tentative Order.  Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement, Dominion Peoples agrees to pay a civil settlement amount of $125,000 to resolve the issues raised herein.  Dominion Peoples agrees to pay the $125,000 civil settlement amount within 20 days of the date that this Tentative Order becomes final.   Dominion Peoples cannot claim nor include any amount or cost imposed under this settlement in any future rate proceedings.


Dominion Peoples also agreed to implement numerous safety measures set forth in the Appendix to the Settlement Agreement.  Dominion Peoples agreed to revise its current written damage prevention plan (90-01) to provide specific guidelines for inspection of pipeline facilities during and after excavation activities occur near these facilities and agreed to revise the written emergency plan (160-02, 80-03, 80-04) to include actions for combustible gas found inside the building not related to customer piping, the use of main line valves to eliminate the immediate hazard to life or property, and the elimination of all sources of ignition when a hazardous condition is determined.


Dominion Peoples also agreed to provide training for all employees, including contractors responsible for conducting inspections of pipeline facilities on the revisions to the damage prevention plan, and for all employees responsible for acting on leaks determined to be immediate hazards to life or property on the revised emergency plan.  Dominion Peoples agreed to implement a program to insure that all notices of excavation activity are evaluated and properly completed prior to the excavation date and provide a program and write a specific standard operating procedure for monitoring the accuracy and timeliness of the temporary markings of pipeline facilities in the area of excavation activity performed by either Dominion Peoples’ employees or contractors contracted to provide the markings.


While Dominion Peoples believes its distribution system meets code requirements with respect to valve placement and inspection, nevertheless, Dominion Peoples agreed to review its distribution system.  This review will include:  Sectionalizing all portions of the high distribution system to reduce the time to shut down a section of main in an emergency; reviewing main line valves that will be used to control the flow of gas in any emergency; and, where needed, to convert convenience valves to critical valves.


In consideration of the payment of a civil penalty and of the implementation of the safety measures, Commission Staff agreed to terminate its informal investigation and agrees to forbear the institution of any formal complaint that relates to the conduct of Dominion Peoples with respect to the two incidents discussed herein.  The parties also agreed that Law Bureau may prepare and submit a Tentative Order for the Commission’s consideration, pursuant to 52 Pa. Code §5.232(e).

Discussion
We are satisfied with the resolution of this incident under the terms of the Settlement Agreement negotiated between Commission Staff and Dominion Peoples and believe that the Settlement Agreement is in the public interest.  

The Commission is satisfied that the amount of civil penalties is fair and equitable. In Joseph A. Rosi v. Bell-Atlantic-Pennsylvania, Inc. And Sprint Communications Company, L.P., C-00992409 (March 16, 2000), the Commission adopted standards to be applied to determine the amount of the civil penalty in slamming cases.  We have subsequently determined that all alleged violations of the Code and Commission regulations, not just slamming cases, shall be subject to review under the standards enunciated in Rosi.  Pa. P.U.C. v. NCIC Operator Services, M-00001440 (Order entered December 21, 2000).


The proposed civil penalty is appropriate based on the Rosi factors.  In reviewing the appropriateness of a civil penalty, we consider a number of factors, including the nature of the alleged violations.  Here, the proposed payment of $125,000 adequately reflects recognition of the seriousness of the allegations in this case, promotes ongoing regulatory compliance, and is in accord with Commission policy.  This settlement amount is further supported by several mitigating factors, including the fact that from the initiation of the informal investigation, Dominion Peoples has cooperated with Commission Staff in the factual investigation and resolution of this matter.  In addition, we note that the resolution of the matter arises from a settlement that avoids the expense and uncertainty of future litigation and is sufficient to deter future allegations of the same conduct. 

In addition, the safety measures to be implemented by Dominion Peoples contained in the Appendix to the Settlement Agreement will serve to avoid similar instances in the future.  The Commission notes the safety measures to be implemented demonstrate Dominion Peoples’ acknowledgement that actions are required to avoid similar occurrences in the future and that Dominion Peoples is committed to complying with Commission gas safety regulations.  
Finally, we note that the adoption of the Settlement Agreement of an informal investigation is in the form of a tentative decision that provides other potentially affected persons with the opportunity to submit exceptions to this decision; THEREFORE, 

IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1.
The attached Settlement Agreement is in the public interest and is tentatively approved;

2.
Any person having an interest in the proceeding shall have twenty (20) days from the date of the entry of the Tentative Order within which to file exceptions to the Tentative Order.

3.
Absent exceptions or comments filed in opposition to the Settlement Agreement within the twenty-day comment period, the Tentative Order shall become the Final Order of the Commission.

4.
A copy of the Tentative Order be served on the Office of Consumer Advocate and the Office of Small Business Advocate.







BY THE COMMISSION







James J. McNulty







Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED: April 10, 2003
ORDER ENTERED:  April 14, 2003
	� If a utility involved in an informal investigation has committed to resolve the matter in the form of a settlement, “the Commission’s adoption of the settlement. . . will be considered at public meeting.”  52 Pa. Code §3.113(c)(3).
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